No. 46768-2-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

DEMAR MICHAEL NELSON,

Appellant.

On Appeal from the Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 10-1-05090-8 The Honorable Bryan Chushcoff, Judge

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM Attorney for Appellant WSBA No. 26436

4616 25th Avenue NE, No. 552 Seattle, Washington 98105 Phone (206) 526-5001

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The State failed to present sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the essential element of premeditation.
- 2. The prosecutor improperly commented on Demar Nelson's exercise of his constitutional right to remain silent.
- The trial court erred in finding that Demar Nelson had the present or future ability to pay discretionary legal financial obligations.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- Did the State present sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the essential element of premeditation, where the facts showed no opportunity to reflect and deliberate and no evidence of actual reflection and deliberation? (Assignment of Error 1)
- 2. Did the prosecutor improperly comment on Demar Nelson's exercise of his constitutional right to remain silent when it told the jury that it could infer Nelson did not act in self-defense, and was therefore guilty of first degree murder, because he did not immediately tell his friends or the police that he shot the victim in self-defense? (Assignment of Error 2)

3. Did the trial court fail to comply with RCW 10.01.160(3) when it imposed discretionary legal financial obligations as part of Demar Nelson's sentence, where there was no evidence that he has the present or future ability to pay? (Assignment of Error 3)

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On the night of December 27, 2008, two groups of young men met outside of a mutual friends' home because one man from each group wanted to continue a fist fight that began earlier that night at a Tacoma bar. A loud and aggressive James Guillory challenged several bystanders to fight as well, but one of those bystanders shot and killed Guillory. Police had no suspect for several years, but eventually police concluded that the shooter was Demar Michael Nelson. Nelson was charged with murder. He admitted that he shot Guillory, but claimed that he was acting in self-defense. The jury rejected his claim and convicted Nelson of first degree murder.

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The State charged Demar Nelson with one count of first degree premeditated murder (RCW 9A.32.030(1)(a)), and alleged he was armed with a firearm during the commission of the offense (RCW 9.94A.510, .533). (CP 1, 26) Nelson filed a notice informing

the State that he intended to assert the defense of justifiable homicide (self-defense). (CP 25) The jury was instructed on the lesser included offense of second degree murder and on the law of self-defense. (CP 67-69, 74) But the jury convicted Nelson of first degree premeditated murder, and found that he was armed with a firearm when he committed the offense. (CP 80-82; 12RP 1249)¹

Nelson's criminal history included an assault conviction from King County that was committed after, but tried and sentenced before, his current offense. (CP 86; 13RP 1260) That crime included a jury finding that Nelson was armed with a firearm, and Nelson's sentence included a firearm enhancement. (CP 86; 13RP 1260-61) Because of this prior conviction, the length of Nelson's firearm sentence enhancement in this case was doubled to 120 months. (CP 86; 13RP 1260-61) The trial court imposed a standard range sentence of 361 months, for a total term of confinement of 481 months. (CP 89; 13RP 1289) The trial court ordered that Nelson's sentence in the current case be served consecutive to the sentence imposed in the King County case. (CP 89; 13RP 1289) The court also imposed \$3,300 in legal financial obligations (CP 87; 13RP

¹ The transcripts labeled volumes 1 through 13 will be referred to by their volume number (#RP). Any remaining transcripts will be referred to by the date of the proceeding.

1289) Nelson timely appealed. (CP 98)

B. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

Demar Nelson, Grady Brown and Calvin Davis spent the evening of December 26-27, 2008, together at O'Toole's bar in Lakewood. (4RP 128; 5RP 240, 245-46; 8RP 861) James Guillory, Ryan Blosser, Robert Poeltl, and Jamar Robinson also spent the evening together at O'Toole's. (6RP 322-23; 7RP 577, 647) After the bar closed, Guillory got into an altercation with someone in the parking lot. (6RP 326; 7RP 579, 712) Guillory was punched and fell to the ground. (7RP 579, 649, 712) Joseph Coleman was standing nearby and made a comment about Guillory. (7RP 580) In retaliation, Blosser turned and hit Coleman. (6RP 327; 7RP 580, 712) Because there were several police officers in the area, however, the fight between Blosser and Coleman guickly ended and the two groups of men went their separate ways. (6RP 328, 330, 438-39; 7RP 580)

Both Blosser and Coleman were still upset about the incident and wanted to continue the fight. (6RP 329; 7RP 581, 714) Their mutual friend, Jermillo Larkins, arranged for the men to meet at his house so they could have a "fair fight." (6RP 330-31, 378; 7RP 581-82, 715-16)

Coleman asked Nelson, Davis, and Brown to accompany him to Larkins' house to protect Coleman from being attacked by Blosser's friends. (8RP 867) Coleman drove his white Cadillac and Brown drove the other men in his BMW. (5RP 263)

Guillory, Blosser, Poeltl and Robinson arrived at Larkins' house first and waited on the porch. (6RP 336-37; 7RP 584-85) Coleman, Nelson, Davis, and Brown arrived soon after, and parked in front of Larkins' house. (5RP 266; 6RP 337; 7RP 586) Blosser and Coleman met in the middle of the street, and started circling each other and throwing punches while the other men watched. (5RP 267, 270; 6RP 341-42; 7RP 587, 589-90, 651-52, 722)

Although the specific details of what occurred next vary from witness to witness, the essential facts are consistent. Guillory, who was still extremely upset about being punched in O'Toole's parking lot, was yelling loudly and demanding a "knockout." (5RP 272, 294-95; 6RP 333-34, 387; 9RP 970, 1069; 10 RP 1129) At one point, as he stood on Larkins' porch, Guillory broke a 40-ounce beer bottle and waived it around like a weapon. (6RP 346-47, 383; 7RP 759; 10RP 1127) Guillory came down to the sidewalk and was pacing back and forth, yelling and watching the other men fight. (6RP 386-87; 10RP 1128-29, 1130) Guillory then turned to Nelson, Brown and Davis and

challenged them to a fight. (6RP 344-45, 348, 384, 384, 388; 7RP 679, 690-91; 10RP 1130)

Nelson, Davis and Brown told Guillory to calm down, but Guillory instead tore off his shirt and walked towards them in an aggressive manner as they stood near the BMW. (5RP 269, 274, 275; 6RP 349-50, 387, 389; 7RP 723-24; 8RP 739, 740, 761; 8RP 873, 874, 876, 877-78; 9RP 1003-04; 10RP 1130) Nelson told Guillory to back away, but when he did not, Nelson pulled his semiautomatic handgun out of its hip holster and fired 18 rounds in quick succession.² (5RP 315; 6RP 351, 420; 7RP 599, 595-96, 632; 8RP 742, 792, 870; 9RP 1004; 10RP 1115, 1132, 1133)

Guillory was hit numerous times in his chest, back and upper extremities. (8RP 821) Guillory slumped to the ground and died a short time later. (4RP 143; 6RP 357, 426; 7RP 602-03; 8RP 838) Guillory, who stood six feet one inch tall and weighed 235 pounds, was found to have a blood alcohol level of 0.21 at the time of his death. (8RP 842, 843)

Law enforcement found fired bullets and 18 bullet casings

² The witness' testimony differed on whether Guillory was still moving towards Nelson when he was shot, and whether Nelson was backing away or walking towards Guillory as he fired. (6RP 349-50, 351; 7RP 599, 632, 633; RP8 751, 892, 1004)

scattered along the front fence-line of Larkins' yard, and a broken bottle on Larkins' porch. (6RP 455, 456, 457, 461, 471; 7RP 548, 549; 8RP 792) The casings were located in the same general area, about 17 feet from the pool of blood where Guillory lay. (6RP 474-75, 497, 498-99)

Nelson testified on his own behalf. He testified that Guillory had broken a bottle and was yelling and acting angry and aggressive. (10RP 1126, 1127) Nelson tried to tell Guillory to "chill" and told Guillory that he was just there to watch the other men fight. (10RP) 1130) But Guillory would not calm down, and instead got angrier and angrier, until he ripped off his shirt and moved quickly towards Nelson. (10RP 1130, 1131-32) Nelson told Guillory to back up, but Guillory kept coming. (10RP 1132, 1132) Guillory seemed bigger and stronger than Nelson, and Nelson was afraid that Guillory would seriously injure or even kill him. (10RP 1128, 1132, 1143, 1144) Nelson removed his gun and fired a warning shot, hoping that would stop Guillory's advance. (10RP 1133) When that attempt failed, Nelson fired his weapon repeatedly until the clip was emptied. (10RP 1133) Nelson testified that everything happened quickly, and it was dark so he could not tell if Guillory had a weapon. (RP 10RP 1147, 1163-64)

Nelson, Davis and Brown immediately left. (5RP 277; 8RP 871) In the car, Nelson asked if everyone was all right, and told them that he had asked Guillory to back away. (5RP 285; 8RP 871; 10 RP 1142) Nelson did not call 911 or report the incident because he was scared, and did not know if his life would be in danger if Guillory's friends knew he was responsible. (10RP 1143, 1159)

IV. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES

A. THE STATE FAILED TO PRESENT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT NELSON ACTED WITH THE PREMEDITATED INTENT TO KILL GUILLORY.

"Due process requires that the State provide sufficient evidence to prove each element of its criminal case beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>City of Tacoma v. Luvene</u>, 118 Wn.2d 826, 849, 827 P.2d 1374 (1992) (citing <u>In re Winship</u>, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970)). Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction only if, viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, it permits any rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Salinas</u>, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). "A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." <u>Salinas</u>, 119 Wn.2d at 201.

The jury convicted Nelson of first degree murder pursuant to

RCW 9A.32.030(1)(a), which requires that the State prove "a premeditated intent to cause the death of another." Accordingly, the State is required to prove both intent and premeditation, which are not synonymous. <u>State v. Brooks</u>, 97 Wn.2d 873, 876, 651 P.2d 217 (1982).

While intent means only "acting with the objective or purpose to accomplish a result which constitutes a crime", premeditation involves "the mental process of thinking beforehand, deliberation, reflection, weighing or reasoning for a period of time, however short." <u>State v. Pirtle</u>, 127 Wn.2d 628, 644, 904 P.2d 245 (1995) (quoting <u>State v. Gentry</u>, 125 Wn.2d 570, 597-98, 888 P.2d 1105 (1995) and <u>State v. Ortiz</u>, 119 Wn.2d 294, 312, 831 P.2d 1060 (1992)); <u>Brooks</u>, 97 Wn.2d at 876. Premeditation requires a "conscious consideration and planning that precedes an act [or] the pondering of an action before carrying it out." PREMEDITATION, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014).

Thus, premeditation must involve "more than a moment in point of time," and mere opportunity to deliberate is not sufficient to support a finding of premeditation. RCW 9A.32.020(1); <u>Pirtle</u>, 127 Wn.2d at 644. It is therefore possible for a person to act with an intent to kill that is not premeditated. <u>Brooks</u>, 97 Wn.2d at 876. For

this reason, premeditation cannot simply be inferred from the intent to kill. <u>State v. Commodore</u>, 38 Wn. App. 244, 247, 684 P.2d 1364 (1984).

In <u>Ortiz</u>, the Court found sufficient evidence of premeditation from the defendant's infliction of multiple wounds, procurement of a weapon from another room, and his prolonged struggle with the victim. 119 Wn.2d at 312-13. But in this case, there was no moment where Nelson left to procure a weapon, and no prolonged struggle.

In <u>State v. Rehak</u>, premeditation was proved where there was evidence showing that the killer "prepared the gun; crept up behind the victim who was sitting quietly in his chair and not in a confrontational stance; and shot three separate times, twice after the victim had already fallen to the floor." 67 Wn. App. 157, 164, 834 P.2d 651 (1992). In this case, the evidence shows that Guillory was "in a confrontational stance" and that Nelson fired only when Guillory approached him demanding to fight, and that Nelson fired his gun without stopping to "prepare" or reload the weapon.

Conversely, in <u>State v. Bingham</u>, an autopsy of the victim indicated that the "cause of death was 'asphyxiation through manual strangulation', accomplished by applying continuous pressure to the windpipe for approximately 3 to 5 minutes." 105 Wn.2d 820, 822,

719 P.2d 109 (1986). The State relied on the length of time required to cause death to support the charge of premeditated murder. 105 Wn.2d at 822. However, on appeal the Court found that "no evidence was presented of deliberation or reflection before or during the strangulation, only the strangulation. The opportunity to deliberate is not sufficient." 105 Wn.2d at 827.

The State argued in this case that it proved premeditation "based on the number of shots, based on the location of the shots, based on the defendant's demeanor both before and after this killing." (11RP 1193) However,

"[V]iolence and multiple wounds, while more than ample to show an intent to kill, cannot standing alone support an inference of a calmly calculated plan to kill requisite for premeditation and deliberation, as contrasted with an impulsive and senseless, albeit sustained, frenzy."

<u>State v. Ollens</u>, 107 Wn.2d 848, 852, 733 P.2d 984 (1987) (quoting <u>Austin v. United States</u>, 382 F.2d 129, 139 (D.C.Cir.1967)). In this case, the number of shots fired (all in quick succession) and the fact that some of those shots hit Guillory in the back is much more consistent with an intent to kill in the "frenzy" of the moment, than with conscious consideration and planning. Furthermore, Nelson's demeanor *after* the shooting does not shed any light on whether he

premeditated *before* the shooting.

As for his demeanor before the shooting, this also does not show premeditation. Nelson stood by watching the other men fight. (5RP 269; 7RP 652-53; 8RP 876; 10RP 1124, 1125) He was not yelling or challenging anyone to fight. (6RP 355) Nelson did not seek out Guillory, instead Guillory picked a fight with Nelson. (5RP 273, 294-95; 6RP 344-45, 348, 384, 388; 7RP 679, 690, 723 724; 8RP 739-40, 873, 876; 10RP 1128-29, 1130) Then, when Guillory was advancing aggressively towards Nelson, Nelson reacted in the heat of the moment by firing his weapon. (6RP 349-50, 389; 8RP 724-25, 726; 8RP 740, 892; 9RP 1004; 10RP 1131-32, 1133, 1163) There was absolutely no evidence presented of Nelson deliberating, reflecting, or planning before or during the assault on Guillory.

The State must present some evidence that Nelson actually reflected and deliberated and formed a reasoned plan to take Guillory's life. The State failed to offer this evidence. The facts presented cannot sustain a finding that Nelson formed a premeditated intent to kill Guillory, and Nelson's first degree murder conviction must be reversed.³

³ The reviewing court should reverse a conviction and dismiss the prosecution for insufficient evidence where no rational trier of fact could find that all elements of the crime were proven beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Hickman</u>, 135 Wn.2d

B. THE PROSECUTOR IMPROPERLY ENCOURAGED THE JURY TO INFER GUILT FROM NELSON'S EXERCISE OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT.

Both the Federal and Washington State constitutions guarantee a criminal defendant the right to be free from self-incrimination, including the right to remain silent. U.S. Const., amend. V; Wash. Const., art. I, § 9. The State may not comment on a defendant's right to remain silent, including a defendant's prearrest silence. <u>State v. Gregory</u>, 158 Wn.2d 759, 839, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006); <u>State v. Lewis</u>, 130 Wn.2d 700, 705, 927 P.2d 235 (1996). "A comment on an accused's silence occurs when used to the State's advantage either as substantive evidence of guilt or to suggest to the jury that the silence was an admission of guilt." <u>Lewis</u>, 130 Wn.2d at 707.

However, when defendants take the stand, their prearrest silence may be used to impeach their testimony, but their silence may not be used as substantive evidence of guilt. See <u>State v. Clark</u>, 143 Wn.2d 731, 756, 24 P.3d 1006 (2001); <u>Lewis</u>, 130 Wn.2d at 705-06; <u>State v. Easter</u>, 130 Wn.2d 228, 235, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996); Jenkins v. Anderson, 447 U.S. 231, 237-38, 100 S. Ct. 2124, 65 L.

^{97, 103, 954} P.2d 900 (1988); <u>State v. Hardesty</u>, 129 Wn.2d 303, 309, 915 P.2d 1080 (1996).

Ed. 2d 86 (1980). When the State invites the jury to infer guilt from the invocation of the right of silence, the Fifth Amendment and article I, § 9 of the Washington Constitution are violated. Lewis, 130 Wn.2d at 706-07.

For example, in <u>State v. Knapp</u>, the defendant was convicted of residential burglary. 148 Wn. App. 414, 199 P.3d 505 (2009). At trial, the prosecutor elicited a detective's testimony about two separate witnesses positively identifying Knapp and Knapp's subsequent reactions: In the first occurrence, Knapp had immediately hung his head and said nothing; in the second, Knapp had displayed no reaction. 148 Wn. App. at 419. Knapp later testified, denying that he had committed the burglary and asserting an alibi. 148 Wn. App. at 418. During closing, the prosecutor argued that the jury should find Knapp guilty because he did not protest his innocence when confronted by the identifying witnesses:

And another reason to believe that this defendant, Kyle Knapp, did the burglary, both times that it was mentioned to him that Darren Blakeslee identified him and then Officer Harris identified him, what did he do? He put his head down. *Did he say, "No. It wasn't me"?* [sic] *No.*

148 Wn. App. at 420 (emphasis and alterations in original). This Court held that the prosecutor did not properly impeach Knapp's

testimony but instead, impermissibly commented on Knapp's silence. 148 Wn. App. at 421.

In <u>State v. Burke</u>, the 22-year old defendant had intercourse with a 15 year old girl. 163 Wn.2d 204, 206, 207, 181 P.3d 1 (2008). The police subsequently charged Burke with rape of a child in the third degree. 163 Wn.2d at 208. Burke asserted that he reasonably believed the alleged victim to be 16 years old based upon her declarations. 163 Wn.2d at 208. The State sought to undermine this defense based upon the idea that if she had told him she was 16, then he would have made such a comment to police at the first interview or when the victim's sister had called him the next day. 163 Wn.2d at 208-09.

The State made these arguments in its opening and closing arguments to the jury and stressed Burke's silence in both direct examination of the investigating officers and in cross examination of Burke himself. <u>Burke</u>, 163 Wn.2d at 208-09. For example, the prosecutor told the jury:

And for a time the defendant talked to them [police], freely telling them, yeah, I don't remember what her name was, but it was [Jaime's] sister, and yes, we had sex. . . . [The police] were there to gather the defendant's side of the story. That is all he chose to give them and they left.

163 Wn.2d at 208 (alterations in original). The Court found that by doing so, the State "thus advanced the link between guilt and the termination of the interview. The implication is that suspects who invoke their right to silence do so because they know they have done something wrong." 163 Wn.2d at 222. The Court concluded that the State thereby violated Burke's right to silence.

Here, the State also violated Nelson's right to silence by using the fact that Nelson did not immediately report to his friends or to law enforcement that he acted in self-defense. During cross examination, the prosecutor guestioned Nelson:

- Q. You did absolutely nothing in regard to calling the police, telling these guys in the car that you shot in self-defense, none of that?
- A. Correct.
- Q. This is when you are saying that.
- A. Correct.

(10RP 1159)⁴ Then in closing arguments, the prosecutor repeatedly

told the jury that Nelson's failure to immediately claim self-defense

to his friends and law enforcement showed his guilt:

• The defendant is guilty of Murder in the First Degree based on the number of shots, based on the location of the shots, based on the defendant's demeanor both before and after this killing. (11RP

⁴ Before Nelson took the stand, he asked that the State be precluded from questioning him regarding his prearrest silence, but the court rejected the request and ruled that the State could question Nelson about his failure to immediately claim self-defense. (10RP 1078-80, 1107-09)

1193) (emphasis added)

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