COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

DEMAR NELSON, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Bryan Chushcoff

No. 10-1-05090-8

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By JASON RUYF Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

You are the ones who decide, one, is that true? It is not. It's just not. It can't be. He wasn't afraid of anything.

11RP 1190. Defendant challenges the unobjected to remarks that followed:

Look at what he <u>did</u> afterward. Rationalize this case, use your common sense in deciding this case, and you will discover of course that he raised self-defense because that's all he could do.

11RP 1190 (emphasis added); App.Br. p. 17. The argument transitioned to recalling the jury to evidence inconsistent with self-defense. It concluded with another remark challenged for the first time on appeal:

Any person—I don't care who you are, any person—if you act in self-defense, whether you are scared or not, you are worried, you are talking, you are especially talking to the two guys in the car. None of them. It is cold-blooded murder.

11RP 1190-91. The argument next explained how the facts proved premeditated first degree murder instead of second degree murder. 11RP 1191-92. And it closed with a summary of the State's proof:

The defendant is guilty of Murder in the First Degree based on the number of shots, based on the location of the shots, based on defendant's <u>demeanor</u> before and after the killing. The State is asking you to find the defendant guilty.

11RP 1193 (emphasis added). This argument is also first challenged on appeal. *Id*.

In rebuttal, the State embraced defendant's summary of the procedural protections attending a jury trial while differentiating them

from the jury's ability to apply common sense to the evidence. 11RP 1224. Facts refuting self-defense were argued from the instructions, to include the one explaining the jury's role in deciding credibility:

Defense counsel put up ... Instruction No. 2 ..., which ... talks about the burden of proof ... [and] give[s] a definition of beyond a reasonable doubt.... This instruction tells you that you assess the evidence, and then you discuss whether the elements ... whether you have a reasonable doubt as to whether the charge, the elements, have been proved or not.

Instruction 1, in contrast, discusses how you view the evidence. It expressly says that you are the sole judges of the credibility of each witness. You decide who is telling the truth. You decide the reasonableness of the testimony and what people are saying.

11RP 1225-28 (emphasis added). Inconsistencies between defendant's testimony and the corroborated testimony of other witnesses were explored. 11RP 1228-30. Defendant's claimed memory failures were addressed in terms of the instruction identifying memory as potentially indicative of credibility. 11RP 1230-33, 1237. Here, his claimed inability to recall critical post-shooting events was described as inconsistent with how the mind would typically record such a memorable event. 11RP 1230-33. The rebuttal concluded by recalling the jury to the elements of first degree murder and the State's burden of proof. 11RP 1237-40.

i. Defendant failed to prove the challenged remarks misused his prearrest silence.

Prosecutors are afforded wide latitude to draw, and express, reasonable inferences and deductions from the evidence during closing argument, including inferences as to the credibility of witnesses. *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 841, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006); *State v. Militate*, 80 Wn. App. 237, 250, 908 P.2d 374 (1995) (citing *Hoffman*, 116 Wn.2d at 94-95); *State v. Munguia*, 107 Wn. App. 328, 337, 26 P.3d 1017 (2001). Prosecutors may argue inferences as to why the jury would want to believe one witness over another. *Brett*, 126 Wn.2d at 175. The burden of proof does not insulate a defendant's exculpatory theory from attack; "[o]n the contrary, the evidence supporting a defendant's theory of the case is subject to the same searching examination as the State's evidence." *State v. Contreras*, 57 Wn. App. 471, 476, 788 P.2d 1114 (1990).

"A prosecutor is entitled ... to point out improbabilities or a lack of evidentiary support for the defense's theory of the case." *State v. Killingsworth*, 166 Wn. App. 290-92, 269 P.3d 1064, *review denied*, 174 Wn.2d 1007, 278 P.3d 1112 (2012)(citing *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 87; *State v. Boehning*, 127 Wn. App. 511, 519, 111 P.3d 899 (2005)). This includes pointing out how a prearrest failure to report a killing is inconsistent with self-defense. *Jenkins*, 447 U.S. at 234-35, 238.

Addressing the challenged remarks in order, defendant incorrectly claims this remark was a comment on silence:

Look at what he <u>did</u> afterward. Rationalize this case, use your common sense in deciding this case, and you will discover of course that he raised self-defense because that's all he could do.

11RP 1190 (emphasis added); App.Br. p. 17. This remark explicitly refers to what defendant *did* after the shooting, not to what he failed to say about the shooting; thus, it does not obviously, if at all, refer to prearrest silence, let alone suggest it to be an admission of guilt. The remark was also introduced with care taken to differentiate the credibility being addressed from proof the crime. Supra (citing 11RP 1190). Qualifications of this nature are used to confine sensitive evidence to its proper purpose. If one strays from the plain meaning of the word used to assume an implicit reference to prearrest silence, the remark remains proper impeachment of defendant's testimony. See Jenkins, 447 U.S. at 234-35, 238.

Defendant makes the same conclusory criticism of this remark:

Any person—I don't care who you are, any person—if you act in self-defense, whether you are scared or not, you are worried, you are talking, you are especially talking to the two guys in the car. None of them. It is cold-blooded murder.

11RP 1190-91 (emphasis added). Unlike the preceding argument, this remark actually refers to prearrest silence, but does so in terms of the implausibility of defendant's testimony he and his friends silently drove

away from the place he fired eighteen bullets at the victim. Further support for this interpretation can be found in how the prosecutor returned to the subject in rebuttal:

Again, when you look at this instruction, it talks about the witness's ability to observe accurately. The quality of their memory while testifying. ... [h]e was asked, well, what did you say when you got in the car? And he, in essence, said nothing. What do you remember saying? Nothing. What do you remember after that? I'm asking, what do you remember after that? Nothing. What did you do later? What did you do the next day? Did you go to work? All of these kind of things. Nothing. Crystal clear memory up to that point. This can't be the type of incident where you would not remember, as I said earlier, what happened later, because what is your mind doing to you when you know, meaning the defendant, he just fired 18 shots at a person pointblank? What is the mind doing now? Murder, right? What do I do? How do you deal with that? That's not an every-day occurrence. You would remember. What were you thinking? What were you feeling? What were you doing? Nothing.

11RP 1231-32. The entire argument is quintessential impeachment aimed at discrediting defendant's specifically referenced testimony by recalling the jury to how it was undermined during cross-examination. Both arguments speak in terms of defendant's believability. Neither treat silence as a tacit admission of guilt.

Defendant's last challenge is directed to how the prosecutor summarized the evidence without mentioning silence:

The defendant is guilty of Murder in the First Degree based on the number of shots, based on the location of the shots, based on defendant's demeanor before and after the killing. The State is asking you to find the defendant' guilty.

11RP 1193(emphasis added). Recalling the jury to defendant's "demeanor" is not a reference to silence, let alone improper treatment of silence as substantive evidence of guilt. This is because a generic reference to demeanor cannot be construed as commenting on silence as substantive evidence. *State v. Barry*, 183 Wn.2d 297, 307-08, 352 P.3d 161 (2015); *United States v. Velarde-Gomez*, 269 F.3d 1023, 1030-31 (9th Cir.2001); accord *Barry*, 183 Wn.2d at 308; *State v. Mauro*, 159 Ariz. 186, 766 P.2d 59, 70–71 (1988). In cases where a statement is challenged as impliedly making substantive use of silence, meaning is determined through an examination of the statement's context. *Barry*, 183 Wn.2d at 308.

The challenged reference to demeanor was plainly directed at conduct other than silence. 11RP 1191. It followed argument that began by transitioning away from impeachment to explain how defendant's premeditated act of killing the victim was distinguishable from second degree murder. 11RP 1190-93. This comparison focused on the manner of the shooting, which had already been addressed in detail. In this context, relevant demeanor, other than silence, was first introduced at the outset of the closing argument. 11RP 1181. Defendant was described as confidently heading into the fight "with his eyes opened, knowing what was going to happen," assured he could meet any challenge with the firearm he carried. 11RP 1181, 1188. His act of firing eighteen bullets at the victim in response to being challenged to a fistfight was addressed as it was again just before the challenged remark. 11RP 1189, 1192-93. And the first

treatment of that conduct included defendant's post shooting *act* of fleeing the scene. 11RP 1189.

ii. Defendant cannot show flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct incapable of being cured with an instruction.

If the defendant failed to make a proper objection, he or she must prove the prosecutor's argument was so flagrant and ill-intentioned resulting prejudice could not have been cured by a proper instruction. *State v. McChristian*, 158 Wn. App. 392, 400, 241 P.3d 468 (2010) (citing *State v. Reed*, 102 Wn.2d 140, 145, 684 P.2d 699 (1984)). Improper argument is flagrant when it communicates a "remarkable misstatement of the law" by expressing an obvious, extremely, flauntingly, or purposely conspicuous error. *See Warren*, 165 Wn.2d at 28; *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 761, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) (citing WEBSTER'S THIRD INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY 862-63 (2002)). "Ill-intentioned" argument evinces a malicious disregard for a defendant's right to due process. *See generally Warren*, 165 Wn.2d at 29 (prosecutor sought to undermine the burden of proof with argument previously determined to be "entirely inappropriate"); WEBSTER'S THIRD INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY 1126 (2002).

Defendant challenges three unobjected to remarks in the prosecutor's closing argument which he must now prove to be incurably

flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct. He cannot. Only one of the challenged remarks mentioned prearrest silence. 11RP 1190-91. It most clearly commented on the implausibility of defendant's testimony that nothing was discussed in the car as he and his friends fled from the shooting when it would have been a natural time to discuss the incident. *Id.* The import cannot be fairly characterized as conspicuous error made in malicious disregard for the law given the law authorizing that type of impeachment. *E.g.*, *Jenkins*, 447 U.S. at 238-39; *Burke*, 163 Wn.2d at 217; *Lewis*, 130 Wn.2d at 707; *Thomas*, 142 Wn. App. at 595.

The other two challenged remarks refer to what defendant "did" and the state of his "demeanor" at the time, which is not a comment on silence. 11RP 1190, 1193. Defendant's relevant conduct was presumptively admissible. ER 401-02. So too was any relevant aspect of his demeanor. *Barry*, 183 Wn.2d at 308. To the extent the reference to what he "did" could be construed as capturing things he failed to say, the point made by it too closely approximates permissible impeachment to cross the high threshold for reversible error attending the applicable standard of review. If the prosecutor's reference to "demeanor" were likewise construed as an oblique comment on silence, the ambiguity inherent in the obliqueness would have done much to mask the impermissible connotation and made it particularly susceptible to being cured by an instruction limiting prearrest silence to the issue of defendant's

credibility. See State v. Brown, 113 Wn.2d 520, 529, 782 P.2d 1013 (1989); Willis, 67 Wn.2d at 685-86.

iii. All three remarks were harmless if error.

An erroneous use of prearrest silence as substantive evidence is harmless if the untained evidence overwhelmingly supports the verdict. *Easter*, 130 Wn.2d at 242; *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 704 P.2d 1182 (1985). In this case the references to prearrest silence were directed at discrediting defendant's theory of self-defense. They are harmless if error because the defense was overwhelming defeated by other evidence. Self-defense requires:

- (1) the slayer reasonably believed ... the person slain intended to inflict death or great personal injury;
- (2) the slayer reasonably believed ... there was imminent danger of such harm being accomplished; and
- (3) the slayer employed such force and means as a reasonably prudent person would use under the same or similar conditions as they reasonably appeared to the slayer, taking into consideration all the facts and circumstances as they appeared to him at the time of and prior to the incident.

CP 65 (Inst. 8) (WPIC 16.02); State v. Walden, 131 Wn.2d 469, 474, 932 P.2d 1237 (1997); State v. Janes, 121 Wn.2d 220, 238-39, 850 P.2d 495 (1993).

There was no evidence the victim "intended to inflict death or great personal injury" by challenging defendant or others to a fistfight amid the other fistfight underway nearby. By all accounts the victim was unarmed. 6RP 346; 7RP 590; 8RP 752-54; 10RP 1136-37. His coordination was visibly compromised. 7RP 578-79; 8RP 753-54; 10RP 1127-28. Meanwhile defendant knew his loaded .9mm pistol was capable neutralizing any threat posed by the unarmed victim, as was irrefutably demonstrated. Even if one unjustifiably assumes defendant irrationally overestimated the victim's ability to harm him in spite of the superior force defendant was capable of bringing to bear, acting in self-defense based on an honest but unreasonable perception of a threat does not lessen criminal liability. State v. Hughes, 106 Wn.2d 176, 188-89, 721 P.2d 902 (1986). Defendant admitted to responding to an unarmed challenger by firing eighteen bullets, pausing between the three that missed the victim and the fifteen that found their mark. CP 27; 10RP 1133, 1138, 1150. Other evidence reinforced the obvious inference defendant's response was clearly too excessive to support a self-defense verdict even if his expressed reason for shooting was accepted as true. Not the least of which was the corroborated testimony that defendant stood over the victim while firing the remaining ammunition into him as he "wiggl[ed]" about on the ground. 6RP 351-54, 471; 8RP 750, 824, 831-32; 10RP 1091-92; Ex. 5. The trial court also rightly deemed any prejudicial effect attending the challenged impeachment to be mitigated by unchallenged testimony neither of defendant's friends ever reported the shooting as self-defense.

8RP 871; 10RP 1091-92. Any error to be found in the State's treatment of defendant's prearrest silence was harmless if error.

3. DEFENDANT SHOULD BE DEEMED TO HAVE WAIVED HIS APPELLATE CHALLENGE TO THE DISCRETIONARY LFO IMPOSED THROUGH HIS FAILURE TO OBJECT TO IT AT SENTENCING.

Defendants sentenced after May 21, 2013, are on notice that failing to object to the imposition of discretionary LFOs at sentencing waives a related claim of error on appeal. *State v. Lyle*, 188 Wn. App. 848, 850, 355 P.3d 327 (2015)(citing *State v. Blazina*, 174 Wn. App. 906, 911, 301 P.3d 492 (2013)). The legislature divested the courts of discretion to consider ability to pay when imposing mandatory LFOs. *State v. Lundy*, 176 Wn. App. 96, 102, 303 P.3d 755 (2013).

Only the \$2,500 imposed for legal defense recoupment was discretionary. CP 87; RCW 7.68.035(1)(a) (CVPA); RCW 43.43.7541 (DNA); RCW 36.18.020(2)(h) (filing fee). Defendant's failure to object to that condition at sentencing should preclude him from challenging it on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); *Lyle*, 188 Wn. App. at 850. Defendant nevertheless seeks discretionary relief under RAP 2.5(a) pursuant to *State v. Blazina*, 182 Wn.2d 827, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). But the systemic concerns which motivated the *Blazina* court to consider an unpreserved challenge to discretionary LFOs were adequately addressed by the decision in that

case. There is no need to readdress them in defendant's case. There is likewise no reason to believe the challenged LFO was unfairly imposed.

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